#### No. 23-CV-411 / No. 23-CV-412

### IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 11/13/2023 10:01 PM Filed 11/13/2023 10:01 PM

MARILYN KUBICHEK,

Appellant,

2022-CAB-006101

DOROTHY BALDWIN

Appellant,

2022-CAB-006102-B

v.

UNLIMITED BIKING WASHINGTON, D.C., LLC, et al., Appellees.

On Appeal from a Final Order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division, Case Nos. 2022-CAB-006101 and 2022-CAB-006102-B, Judge Hiram Puig-Lugo

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS**

D. Cory Bilton
DC Bar No. 1026754
Bilton Law Firm, PLLC
700 12th Street NW, Suite 700
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 347-0303
(202) 827-0033 (facsimile)
cory@biltonlaw.com
Counsel for Appellants

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Whether Judge Puig-Lugo erred in granting Appellee Samonte's Motion to Dismiss, by ruling DC Superior Court's Emergency Covid Orders did not toll the statute of limitations for Appellants' claims.

Whether Judge Puig-Lugo erred by dismissing Appellants' claims against Defendant Unlimited Biking Washington DC, LLC when it had not moved the Court to do anything at all.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an October 11, 2019 incident where Appellants were physically injured by Appellee Samonte while he rode a Segway scooter, as part of a Segway tour run by Defendant Unlimited Biking Washington DC, LLC. App'x at 2-3, 39-40.

In March 2020, the Covid pandemic abruptly altered all our lives. In response to the Covid pandemic, starting on March 15, 2020 the DC Superior Court issued a total of 16 Orders, which, among other things, tolled the statute of limitations on claims in DC.

On December 30, 2022, Appellants filed their claims against Appellee Samonte and Defendant Unlimited Biking Washington DC, LLC in the DC Superior Court—3 years and 80 days after the incident occurred. App'x at 1, 38. At the time, Appellants' injuries had not yet healed.

On March 8, 2023, Appellee Samonte filed his Motion to Dismiss, arguing that Appellants' claims were time-barred by the statute of limitations. App'x at 6, 43. On March 22, 2023, Appellants filed their oppositions to Appellee Samonte's Motion to Dismiss. App'x at 9, 45. Appellee Samonte filed a Reply on March 29, 2023. App'x at 20, 56. Defendant Unlimited Biking Washington DC, LLC was served, but never filed an Answer or a Motion of any type, nor did an attorney enter an appearance for the entity.

On April 12, 2023, Judge Puig-Lugo entered an Order granting Appellee Samonte's Motion to Dismiss, without holding a hearing, by concluding that the tolling provided in the DC Superior Court's Covid Orders did not apply to Appellants' claims. App'x at 76. On May 11, 2023, Appellants noted this appeal. App'x at 36, 71.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the afternoon of October 11, 2019, Appellants were walking northbound on the sidewalk of 12<sup>th</sup> Street NW near the National Mall. App'x at 2, 39. Headed southbound on the same sidewalk was Appellee Samonte riding a Segway scooter

as part of a group tour operated by Defendant Unlimited Biking Washington DC, LLC. App'x at 2, 39. Appellee Samonte was unable to control his Segway scooter and physically collided with Appellants, causing them to suffer injuries, including severe burns. App'x at 3, 40.

In March of 2020, the Covid Pandemic hit the United States in full force. For the lucky among us, we endured it. We have all been deeply impacted by it. On March 15, 2020, the Chief Judge of the DC Superior Court issued an Order suspending and altering the Court's operations due to Covid. Available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/Order-3-15-20.pdf. Three days later, on March 18, 2020, the Joint Committee on Judicial Administration for the District of Columbia Courts issued an order vesting the Chief Judge of the DC Superior Court with the authority to issue orders tolling or extending all deadlines, including statutory deadlines such as statutes of limitations. March 18, 2020 Order Regarding Operation of the DC Courts During the Coronavirus Emergency (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/divisionspdfs/committee%20on%20ad missions%20pdf/Joint-Committee-on-Judicial-Administration-for-the-District-of-Columbia-Courts-March-18-2020-Order.pdf).

## A. <u>First Order</u>

On March 19, 2020, the Chief Judge of the DC Superior Court issued the first order ("First Order") regarding tolling of deadlines and statutes of limitations. The relevant section stated:

## Suspending, Tolling, and Extending Filing Deadlines:

Unless otherwise ordered by the court, <u>all</u> deadlines and time limits in statutes, court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the court that would otherwise expire before May 15, 2020 including statutes of limitations, are suspended, tolled, and extended during the period of the current emergency. Such deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change.

First Order at 2 (emphasis added) (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/Order-Attachment-PDFs/Order-3-19-20.pdf).

## B. Second Order

On May 14, 2020, the Chief Judge of DC Superior Court issued the second order ("Second Order") regarding tolling of statutes of limitations. There are two sections relevant to statutes of limitations for civil cases like Appellants' cases. The first section stated:

By order issued March 18, 2020 and amended March 19, 2020, the Chief Judge ordered that all deadlines and time limits in statutes, court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the court that would otherwise expire before May 15, 2020 including statutes of limitations, are suspended, tolled, and extended during the period of the current emergency. As indicated in that order, the deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change.

Second Order at 1 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/matters-docs/Amended\_Order\_5-14-20\_FINAL.pdf).

The second relevant section stated:

#### CIVIL DIVISION

Unless otherwise ordered by the court, <u>all</u> deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statute of limitations), court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the court that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency are suspended, tolled and extended during the period of emergency, except in any Civil 1 or 2 case subject to Rule 12-I of the Superior Court Rules of Civil Procedure, any suspension, tolling, or extension of the time to file any response or reply concerning a motion ends on May 15, 2020 with respect to all counsel who registered for E-filing before March 18, 2020.

<u>Id.</u> at 2 (emphasis added).

## C. Third Order

On June 19, 2020, the Chief Judge of DC Superior Court issued the third order ("Third Order") regarding tolling of statutes of limitations. There are two sections relevant to statutes of limitations for civil cases like Appellants' cases. The first section stated:

By Orders issued March 18, 2020, March 19, 2020, and most recently May 14, 2020, the Chief Judge ordered that (except as otherwise specified) all deadlines and time limits in statutes, court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the court that would otherwise expire before June 19, 2020 including statutes of limitations, are suspended, tolled, and extended during the period of the current emergency. As indicated in that order, the deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change.

Third Order at 1 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/matters-docs/General%20Order%20pdf/Amended-Order-6-19-20-FINAL.pdf).

The second relevant section stated:

#### **CIVIL DIVISION**

Unless otherwise ordered by the court, <u>all</u> deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statute of limitations), court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the court that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency are suspended, tolled and extended during the period of emergency.

<u>Id.</u> at 2 (emphasis added).

## D. Fourth Order

On August 13, 2020, the Chief Judge of DC Superior Court issued the fourth order ("Fourth Order") regarding tolling of statutes of limitations. There are two sections relevant to statutes of limitations for civil cases like Appellants' cases. The first section stated:

By Orders issued March 18, 2020, March 19, 2020, May 14, 2020, and June 19, 2020 the Chief Judge ordered that (except as otherwise specified) all deadlines and time limits in statutes, court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire before June 19, 2020 including statutes of limitations, are suspended, tolled, and extended during the period of the current judicial emergency. As indicated in that order, the deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change. Suspension, tolling, and extension will continue to the extent specified in this Order until at least November 9, 2020. The Court will provide at least 60 days' notice before ending all suspension, tolling, and extension of deadlines.

Fourth Order at 1 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/matters-docs/General%20Order%20pdf/Amended-Order-8-13-20-FINAL.pdf).

The second relevant section stated:

#### CIVIL DIVISION

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, <u>all</u> deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statute of limitations), court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency are suspended, tolled and extended during the period of emergency.

<u>Id.</u> at 3 (emphasis added). So, the Fourth Order had new language in the second paragraph of the first page assuring that "suspension, tolling, and extension" would continue into the future, until at least November 9, 2020. <u>Id.</u> at 1.

#### E. Fifth Order

On November 5, 2020, the Chief Judge of DC Superior Court issued the fifth order ("Fifth Order") regarding tolling of statutes of limitations. There are two sections relevant to statutes of limitations for civil cases like Appellants' cases. The first section stated:

By Orders issued March 18, 2020, March 19, 2020, May 14, 2020, June 19, 2020, and August 13, 2020, the Chief Judge ordered that (except as otherwise specified) all deadlines and time limits in statutes, court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire before June 19, 2020 including statutes of limitations, are suspended, tolled, and extended during the period of the current judicial emergency. As indicated in that order, the deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change. Suspension, tolling, and extension will continue to the extent specified in this Order until at least January 15, 2021. The Court will provide at

least 60 days' notice before ending all suspension, tolling, and extension of deadlines.

Fifth Order at 1 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/matters-docs/General%20Order%20pdf/Amended-Order-11-5-20\_FINAL.PDF).

The second relevant section stated:

#### CIVIL DIVISION

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, <u>all</u> deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statute of limitations), court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency are suspended, tolled and extended during the period of emergency.

<u>Id.</u> at 3 (emphasis added). The Fifth Order again assures that "suspension, tolling, and extension" will continue into the future, at least to January 15, 2021. <u>Id.</u> at 1.

## F. Sixth Order

On January 13, 2021, the Chief Judge of DC Superior Court issued the sixth order ("Sixth Order") regarding tolling of statutes of limitations. There are two sections relevant to statutes of limitations for civil cases like Appellants' cases. The first section stated:

By Orders issued March 18, 2020, March 19, 2020, May 14, 2020, June 19, 2020, August 13, 2020, and November 5, 2020, the Chief Judge ordered that (except as otherwise specified) all deadlines and time limits in statutes, court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire before June 19, 2020 including statutes of limitations, are suspended, tolled, and extended during the period of the current judicial emergency. As indicated in that order, the deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change. Suspension, tolling, and extension will continue to the extent specified in this Order until at least March

31, 2021. The Court will provide at least 60 days' notice before ending all suspension, tolling, and extension of deadlines.

Sixth Order at 1 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/matters-docs/General%20Order%20pdf/Amended-Order-1-13-21\_FINAL.PDF).

The second relevant section stated:

#### CIVIL DIVISION

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, <u>all</u> deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statute of limitations), court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency are suspended, tolled and extended during the period of emergency.

<u>Id.</u> at 3 (emphasis added). The Sixth Order again assures that "suspension, tolling, and extension" will continue into the future, at least to January 15, 2021. Id. at 1.

Regarding the tolling of statutes of limitations, each Order is largely copying and pasting the language of the previous orders, with new dates. The importance of the repetition of these facts will become apparent in the next order.

## G. Seventh Order

On March 30, 2021, the Chief Judge of DC Superior Court issued the seventh order ("Seventh Order") regarding tolling of statutes of limitations. There are two sections relevant to statutes of limitations for civil cases like Appellants' cases. The first section stated:

By Orders issued March 18, 2020, March 19, 2020, May 14, 2020, June 19, 2020, August 13, 2020, November 5, 2020, and January 13, 2021, the Chief Judge ordered that (except as otherwise specified) all deadlines and time limits in statutes, court rules, and standing and other

orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire, including statutes of limitations, are suspended, tolled, and extended during the period of the current judicial emergency. As indicated in that order, the deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change. Suspension, tolling, and extension will continue to the extent specified in this Order until at least May 20, 2021. The Court will provide at least 60 days' notice before ending all suspension, tolling, and extension of deadlines.

Seventh Order at 1 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/matters-docs/Amended\_Order\_3\_30\_21.pdf).

The second relevant section stated:

#### CIVIL DIVISION

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, <u>no</u> deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statute of limitations), court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court are suspended, tolled or extended during the period of emergency.

Id. at 3 (emphasis added). So, the phrase "all deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statutes of limitations)" switched to "no deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statutes of limitations)" in the Seventh Order. Id. (emphasis added). This small change was intentional, because the "no" is repeated this way in subsequent Covid orders dated May 19, 2021 ("Eighth Order" at 2 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/matters-docs/Amended-General-Order-2021 5 19 21.pdf)); July 14. ("Ninth Order" 2 (available at at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/2021-07/amended\_general\_order\_ july\_2021.pdf)); September 11, 2021 ("Tenth Order" at 2 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/Amended-Chief-Judge-Order-9-121\_FINAL\_0.pdf)); November 21, 2021 ("Eleventh Order" at 2 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/Amended\_Order\_11-21-

21\_Final.pdf)); and April 8, 2022 ("Thirteenth Order" at 2 (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/Amended\_Order\_of\_Chief\_Judge\_4-8-22.pdf)).<sup>1</sup>

Since the Sixth Order had said that "Suspension, tolling, and extension will continue to the extent specified in this Order until at least March 31, 2021" when <u>all</u> statutes of limitations were being tolled, Sixth Order at 1, 3; the period of tolling for civil cases like the Appellants' might have ended on March 31, 2021 because the Seventh Order did not extend the tolling period further, Seventh Order at 3.

## H. Subsequent Orders Say Tolling Continued

Orders issued after the Seventh Order, however, continued to state that tolling was ongoing. The Eighth Order, Ninth Order, Tenth Order, Eleventh Order, Thirteenth Order, and the order issued on July 29, 2022 ("Fourteenth Order") all have a parallel structure to the second paragraph. An example of the relevant portion states:

By Orders issued March 18, 2020, March 19, 2020, May 14, 2020, June 19, 2020, August 13, 2020, November 5, 2020, January 13, 2021, March 30, 2021, May 12, 2021, July 14, 2021, September 11, 2021,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Chief Judge issued an order on December 30, 2021 with an entirely different structure with no information relevant to statutes of limitations in civil cases. ("Twelfth Order" available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/ Amended Superior Court Chief Judge Order 12312021.pdf).

November 21, 2021, and April 8, 2022, the Chief Judge <u>ordered that</u> (except as otherwise specified) all deadlines and time limits in <u>statutes</u>, court rules, and standing and other orders issued by the Court that would otherwise expire before April 8, 2022, <u>including statutes of limitations</u>, are <u>suspended</u>, tolled, and extended during the period <u>of the current judicial emergency</u>. As indicated in that order, the deadlines and time limits may be further suspended, tolled, and extended as circumstances change. <u>Except as specified in this order</u>, <u>suspension</u>, tolling, and extension ends on June 10, 2022.

Fourteenth Order at 1 (emphasis added) (available at https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/Amended\_Order\_of\_Chief\_ Judge\_7-29-2022.pdf). It is unclear what effect, if any, this repeated language has on statutes of limitations for civil cases. The language continues to move dates forward into the future with each successive Order.

## I. The Tolling Period for Civil Cases in DC

Tolling for civil cases such as Appellants' cases began on March 19, 2020 with the First Order. Tolling continued for civil cases such as Appellants' cases through at least the Sixth Order. For Orders after the Sixth Order, it is less clear whether tolling continues for civil cases. One interpretation is that tolling for civil cases was not renewed by the Seventh Order, and therefore the tolling period ended on March 31, 2021 according to the Sixth Order. Another interpretation of the orders as a whole is that tolling in civil cases continued through June 10, 2022, as stated in the Fourteenth Order at 1.

Taking the most conservative interpretation of the Chief Judge's Orders—the interpretation that tolling of statutes of limitations for civil cases was not renewed by the Seventh Order—means that tolling for civil cases continued between March 19, 2020 and March 31, 2021 there are <u>377 days of tolling</u>. The more liberal interpretation—the interpretation that tolling continued to June 10, 2022—would mean that tolling for civil cases continued between March 19, 2020 and June 10, 2022, which is **814 days of tolling**.

## J. Appellants' Complaints

Appellants filed their respective Complaints in DC Superior Court on December 30, 2022—three years and 80 days after the incident. Appellants' claims sounded in tort, which <u>without</u> any Covid, would have been subject to a 3-year statute of limitations. D.C. Code § 12–301(a)(3). Due to the Covid Orders—First Order through Fourteenth Order discussed above ("Covid Orders")—Appellants believed they had more than adequate tolling so that their Complaints would be deemed timely filed.

## K. Appellee Samonte's Motion to Dismiss and Order Granting It

On March 8, 2023, Appellee Samonte filed his Motion to Dismiss, arguing that Appellants did not have any tolling provided by any of the Court's Covid Orders. App'x at 6, 43. Appellants filed oppositions to Appellee Samonte's Motion to Dismiss on March 22, 2023. App'x at 9, 45. Defendant Unlimited Biking

Washington DC, LLC was served, but never filed an Answer or a Motion of any type, nor did an attorney enter an appearance for the entity.

On April 12, 2023, Judge Puig-Lugo entered an Order granting Appellee Samonte's Motion to Dismiss, without holding a hearing, by concluding that the tolling provided in the DC Superior Court's Covid Orders did not apply to Appellants' claims. App'x at 76. On May 11, 2023, Appellants noted this appeal. App'x at 36, 71.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chief Judge's Covid Orders tolled the statute of limitations for all civil cases in DC for at <u>least</u> 377 days, including Appellants' claims, which were filed 80 days after the normal, pre-Covid, 3-year statute of limitations. Appellants thus filed their Complaints within the applicable statute of limitations tolled by the Covid Orders. It was error for Judge Puig-Lugo to grant Appellee Samonte's Motion to Dismiss. The decision should be reversed and the case remanded to DC Superior Court for it to be resolved on the merits.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### A. Standard of Review

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