#### No. 23-CV-0411 / No. 23-CV-0412

#### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

#### MARILYN KUBICHEK



Received 01/08/2024 01:46 PM Filed 01/08/2024 01:46 PM

**Appellant (2022-CAB-006101)** 

**AND** 

#### DOROTHY BALDWIN

**Appellant (2022-CAB-006102)** 

V.

#### UNLIMITED BIKING WASHINGTON, DC, LLC, et al

Appellees	

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Action Nos. 2022-CAB-006101 and 2022-CAB-006102-B (Hon. Hiram Puig-Lugo, presiding)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE EDUARDO SAMONTE

January 8, 2024

ame K Hand

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

Further, it is axiomatic that statutes of limitations find their justification in necessity and convenience rather than in logic. They represent expedients rather than principles. They are practical and pragmatic devices to spare the courts from litigation of stale claims and the citizen from being put to his defense after memories have faded, witnesses have died or disappeared, and evidence has been lost. They are by definition arbitrary, and their operation does not discriminate between the just and unjust claim, or the voidable and unavoidable delay. They have come into law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A litigant is entitled to equitable tolling if she shows (1) that she has pursued her rights diligently, and (2) that some that some extraordinary circumstances stood in her way. *Holland v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 631, 649 (2010). This lawsuit was filed 18 months after the "period of emergency ended."

not through the judicial process but through legislation. *Chase Securities Corporation v. Donaldson*, 325 U.S. 304, 314 (1945).

Moreover, while such an argument or discussion of prejudice may have been warranted in *Berg* the facts in the instant case are quite different. Here, the alleged segway accident occurred on October 11, 2019, creating a statute of limitations deadline of October 11, 2022. Unlike in *Berg* where the plaintiff had less than one month to file her case (although Appellee maintains that no tolling period should be applied where the triggering event occurred before March 18, 2020 and the expiration of a deadline falls after March 31, 2021), Appellants in this case had approximately 18 months after March 31, 2021 to file their cases within the standard three-year statute of limitations period without relying on the interpretation of the Court's Administrative Orders. Instead, Appellants waited until December 30, 2022 to file suit against Appellee, which does nothing more than prejudice Mr. Samonte and violated the purpose under which the statute of limitations was enacted.

On appeal, Appellants discuss the Court's Administrative Emergency Orders issued during the COVID-19 Emergency. Appellants argue the rationale set forth in *Berg*, is applicable and that Appellee's reading of the Court's Administrative Emergency Orders is flawed. However, Appellants ignore the plain language in the Emergency Orders indicating that with respect to causes of action accruing **prior** to the commencement of the COVID-19 Emergency, tolling applies **only** to a deadline

that expires **within** the tolling period. Rather than addressing how or why this language in the Administrative Emergency Orders can be ignored, Appellants aver the lower court and Appellee have misinterpreted the Emergency Orders and stretch the meaning of the term 'tolling' yield nonsensical results. *See* Appellants' Brief at pp. *14-15*. In fact, it is Appellants who reinvent the definition of tolling.

Respectfully, Appellee's argument set forth in his motions to dismiss does not stretch the word "tolling", but fully embraces the plain meaning of the term "tolling." Appellee's legal argument is predicated on the actual wording set forth in the Emergency Orders, to wit, "deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statutes of limitations) ... that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency are suspended, tolled and extended during the period of emergency. ..." (Emphasis added). Appellant completely ignores this underscored language. The Court's Emergency Orders simply do not state that all statutes of limitations are tolled. The Court's Orders limit the tolling to certain situations, i.e., to those causes of action whose "deadline in statutes [including statutes of limitation]" that "would otherwise expire during the period of emergency."

Similarly, Appellants reliance on a footnote written by Judge Park in his June 2, 2021 Order in *Benitez, et al. v. Ingram, et al.*, Case Nos. 2018 CA 007957 V and 2021 CA 000323 V, is misplaced and the footnote in *Benitez v. Ingram* provides no support for Appellants' position. The relevant motion at issue in Judge Park's June

2, 2021 Order, was defendant Benitez's motion to dismiss Ingram's complaint for failure to state a claim. At a hearing held on May 28, 2021, counsel for Ingram argued to the trial court that Ingram would suffer hardship should the motion to dismiss be granted because counsel anticipated having a limitations issue if Ingram needed to refile her lawsuit. Judge Park rejected the hardship plea noting in Footnote 1 of his Order that plaintiff would have ample time to refile her lawsuit, if needed, pointing out that the incident at issue occurred on March 8, 2018, and that therefore the statute of limitations at issue expired on March 5, 2021, **during** the period of emergency and that therefore the 388-day tolling applied.

Appellee consistently acknowledged below that if, hypothetically, Appellants' statute of limitations had "expired" during the period of emergency, then the deadline or time limit in the statute of limitations would have been tolled for three hundred and eighty-eight (388) days and those 388 days would have been added to the deadline for filing. This is what the express language of the Emergency Orders provides. However, the hypothetical is inapplicable herein because the deadline established by the Appellants' three-year statute of limitations did not "otherwise expire" during the "period of emergency", and in fact expired almost 18 months after the "period of emergency" ended, the Emergency Orders relating to statutes of limitations simply have no impact on the computation of the deadline for

filing Appellants' claims. Judge Park's footnote in *Benitez v. Ingram* simply does not address the scenario at issue herein.

b.) Maryland trial level opinions support Appellee's position.

Below Appellants argued broadly and inaccurately that the surrounding jurisdictions of Virginia and Maryland have come to the same conclusion regarding the meaning of "tolling" during the COVID pandemic. While these arguments are not set forth in Appellants' principal Brief on appeal, Appellee briefly addresses the same.

Not only are these Maryland and Virginia trial court orders not binding on this Court, in actuality they do not support Appellants' position herein. Turning first to Maryland, Appellants cite to *Ruzicka-Napier v. Jersey City Transfer Inc., et al.*, Case No. C-07-CV-22-000146, as authority for their suggestion that Maryland approached the period of limitations consistently with the approach advocated by Appellants herein. In fact, the Circuit Court for Cecil County when reviewing a motion to dismiss a complaint on the basis of statute of limitations, held that the tolling of the statute of limitations by 121 days plus 15 days for a total of 146 days applied **only** to cases where the statute of limitations would have <u>expired</u> during the period of emergency. In reaching his decision, Judge Davis expressly held:

Subsection (d) of the Final Administrative Order sets forth parameters for when tolling applies for the initiation of a matter. The provision asserts tolling applies to matters "for which the statute of limitations and other deadlines related to initiation would have expired between

March 16, 2020, through the termination date of COVID-19 emergency operations in the Judiciary ... through April 3, 2022."

Id.

The purpose of subsection (d) of the Final Administrative Order is strictly to set parameters for what cases tolling should apply. Tolling applies if the statute of limitations for the initiation of a matter would have expired between March 16, 2022 and April 3, 2022; the period the Maryland Judiciary was in emergency operations.

Ruzicka-Napier, November 21, 2022 Order at p. 3. (Emphasis added.)

Nothing in Judge Davis' Order in *Ruzicka-Napier* indicates that the tolling of the statute of limitations for 146 days is applicable to <u>all</u> matters with a triggering event prior to the period of COVID-19 Emergency. Rather, the tolling of 146 days is limited to such matters with a statute of limitations deadline **that expired during the period of emergency**, which pursuant to Judge Davis' Order, extended from March 16, 2020, to April 3, 2022. In fact, because Appellants' deadline for filing this negligence action expired on October 11, 2022, Maryland would have applied no tolling. Said another way, if, for whatever reason, Appellants filed their lawsuits in Maryland, Appellee's Motions to Dismiss would have been granted because Appellants' deadline for filing did not expire during Maryland's full period of emergency.

Similarly, in another Maryland case, *Lyons v. Conley*, Circuit Court for Talbot County, Maryland Case No. C-20-CV-20-00100, the trial court found that the statute of limitations was not tolled because the relevant statute of limitation was set to

expire outside the period when the clerk's office was closed and therefore efforts to amend the subject Complaint to add additional causes of action which did not "relate back" to the original Complaint were barred by limitations. Judge Kehoe, sitting in the Circuit Court for Talbot County, indicated the Administrative Orders tolling of the statute of limitations do not apply to plaintiff Lyons' claims because September 8, 2020, occurred *after* the Maryland Courts reopened and the tolling of 146 days did not apply. Judge Kehoe found the tolling did <u>not</u> apply to claims whose deadlines did <u>not expire</u> during the timeframe which the courts were closed. *Id.* The court in *Lyons* reasoned that the additional 146 days should not be added to causes of action where the statute of limitations did not expire during the period of emergency.<sup>3</sup>

Again, whether the adding of the 146 days applies to cases whose statute of limitations expired only when the clerk's office was closed as the court found in *Lyons*, or whether it applies to cases whose statute expired at some point during the entire two-year period of emergency through April 3, 2022 as the court found in *Napier*, a prerequisite to "receiving" the additional 146 days is that the ordinary relevant statute of limitation must have expired during the period of emergency.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Judge Davis in *Ruzicka-Napier* and Judge Kehoe in *Lyons* appear to have a different interpretation of the Maryland Court's definition of the "period of emergency" but both rulings are consistent in that the "tolling" applies only to cases with a deadline for filing which expired within the period of emergency. Ms. Kubichek's lawsuit would be time barred if filed in Maryland by the analysis set forth by both Judge Davis and Judge Kehoe in their respective orders.

Thus, Maryland's approach to tolling of the statute of limitations is <u>not</u> consistent with Appellants' position asserted below and on appeal; in fact, the approach taken by trial level courts in Maryland supports Appellee's position herein.

c.) Virginia trial level opinions are consistent with Appellee's position.

In English v. Quinn, Record No. 0420-22-3 Va, Ct. App. Nov. 29, 2022, a Virginia judge has interpreted the Virginia Courts' Emergency Orders to "toll" the statute of limitations for all causes of action that accrued prior to the period of emergency but where the statute had not yet expired. Importantly, though, the Virginia Orders include language distinguishable from the verbiage in this Court's Emergency Orders. The Virginia Orders "tolled and extended all applicable deadlines, time schedules and filing requirements including any applicable statute of limitations which would otherwise run during the period the [emergency] Order was in effect." (Emphasis added.) In its motion to dismiss on limitations grounds, the defense in English v. Quinn, supra, argued that the term "which would otherwise run" means "which would expire." The court in English v. Quinn, however, interpreted the word "run" in the relevant Emergency Orders to mean "that ran through the period of emergency." The court noted if the Virginia Orders meant for "run" to mean "expire" then the Virginia Orders would have included the word "expire" and would have not used the word "run." In sum, had the Virginia Orders

used only the term "expire" and had they not included the term "run," a different outcome would have occurred in *English v. Quinn*.

Here, the Superior Court's Emergency Orders do in fact use the word "expire." The Orders do not use the word "run." Appellants simply do not address this important difference between the language of the Virginia Emergency Orders and the Superior Court's Emergency Orders. Appellants offer no justification for 1.) adding-in words or for 2.) ignoring whole phrases within the Emergency Orders, as the court did in Berg, supra, to support a position that the tolling provided for by the Emergency Orders applies not only "to deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statutes of limitations) ... that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency," as the Emergency Orders do state, but also applies to all statutes of limitations in all cases, which the Emergency Orders do not state. The court in *Berg*. *supra*, acknowledged the Emergency Orders do not expressly include deadlines that expire outside the period of emergency. Yet, the court in *Berg* concluded the statute of limitations were nonetheless tolled in all cases. If this was the intent of the Emergency Orders, then Query: Why did the Emergency Orders not simply state all statutes of limitations are tolled during the period of emergency? Why include the limiting language "to deadlines and time limits in statutes (including statutes of limitations) ... that would otherwise expire during the period of emergency"? A construction or interpretation of the Emergency Orders that ignores the plain

language thereof is simply not permitted by the rules and canons related to interpretation of such documents.

Finally, Appellants point out, as the court did in Berg, that tolling the statute only for cases that have a deadline that expires during the period of emergency would potentially lead to inconsistent treatment depending on whether a deadline expired on March 30, 2021 (barely within the period of emergency) or on April 1, 2021 (barely outside the period of emergency.) One could make the same argument about discovery and other deadlines that were "tolled" for months from March 2020 to January 13, 2021. For example, if one litigant was served discovery on March 15, 2020, that litigant would benefit from a windfall of close to ten months to prepare discovery responses. Yet, if this same hypothetical litigant propounded discovery on the opposing party on January 13, 2021, the opposing party would have only 30 days to prepare a response. The point being, we can cherry-pick hypotheticals to support or critique lines in the sand established by the Emergency Orders. As matters returned to normalcy, there are bound to be some litigants who had a windfall of extra time and others who had little to no extra time. There will be litigants who need extra time and those that did not. No litigant, though, was afforded less time than they would have had absent the Emergency.

Appellants also suggest that Appellee's interpretation of the Emergency Orders would lead to hardship for a person whose deadline expired after but in close proximity to March 30, 2021. Fortunately, such is not the case herein as Appellants' deadline to file expired almost 18 months after the period of emergency ended.

In conclusion, and for the reasons set forth above, Appellants were obligated to bring any personal injury claims against Appellee resulting from the alleged October 11, 2019, segway incident by October 11, 2022. Because the deadline established by the relevant statute of limitation did not "otherwise expire during" the Court's 388-day Period of Emergency there was no tolling of Appellants' statute of limitations and no tolling of their deadline to file suit. As Appellants did not file suit until December 30, 2022, all claims against Appellee Samonte are time-barred and were properly dismissed with prejudice by the lower court.

# 4. <u>Appellants' Claims against Unlimited Biking Washington D.C., LLC d/b/a Bike and Roll, D.C.</u>

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